IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

COALITION FOR ADEQUACY AND FAIRNESS IN SCHOOL FUNDING, INC., et al.,

Appellants,

v.

LAWTON CHILES, et al.,

Appellees.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 15 1995

CLERK SUPPLEINE COURT

Appeal from the Second Judicial Circuit Court In and For Leon County, Florida On Certification From the First District Court of Appeal

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE COALITION FOR ADEQUACY AND SCHOOL FUNDING, INC. et al.

C. GRAHAM CAROTHERS
FL Bar No. 0012072
√JOHN T. BERANEK
FL Bar No. 0005419
Macfarlane, Ausley, Ferguson
& McMullen
Post Office Box 391
Tallahassee, FL 32302-0391

FL Bar No. 106781
Macfarlane, Ausley, Ferguson & McMullen
Post Office Box 1531
Tampa, FL 32351

III. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellants in this appeal, plaintiffs below, are the Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding, Inc., a Florida nonprofit corporation, eleven Florida public school students and their parents and guardians, Mary Heather Alderman, Roy Alderman, Mary Alderman, Clayton Archey, Hope Archey, Judy Archey, Steven Aranaga, Cheryl Aranaga, Cassie Black, Jerry Black, Kimberly Christensen, Lee Christensen, Gwen Christensen, Chancellor Donald, Nettie Donald, Ashley Fils-Aime, Daniel Fils-Aime, Eugenie Fils-Aime, Jason Garcia, Annie Garcia, Travis Hunter, Glenn Hunter, Kimberly Register, and Paula Register, twenty-three citizens and taxpayers of the State of Florida who are also members of various school boards in this state, Samuel S. Agner, Jr., Glenn Barrington, Brenda H. Carlton, Dwight Crews, Ruthann Derrico, James R. Edwards, Glenn Hunter, Carol Kurdell, Frank J. Lagotic, William L. Marine, Jr., Yvonne T. McKitrick, Janice K. Mee, Joe E. Newsome, Peter Pollard, Sam Rampello, Doris Ross Reddick, Marion S. Rodgers, Linda Sutherland, James H. Townsend, Paula Veible, Odis D. Whiddon, Andrea Whiteley and Donald V. Wiggins, and forty-five Florida School Boards from the following counties: Alachua, Baker, Bay, Bradford, Brevard, Calhoun, Charlotte, Citrus, Clay, Columbia, Dixie, Escambia, Flagler, Franklin, Gadsden, Gulf, Hamilton, Hardee, Hernando, Highlands, Hillsborough, Indian River, Jackson, Jefferson, Lafayette, Lee, Leon, Liberty, Madison, Manatee, Marion, Nassau, Orange, Osceola, Pasco, Polk, Putnam, St. Johns, Santa Rosa, Sarasota, Sumter, Taylor, Volusia, Wakulla, and Washington.

These individuals and entities will collectively be referred to as "plaintiffs."

Appellees in this appeal, defendants below, are Lawton Chiles, as Governor of the State of Florida and Presiding Officer of the State Board of Education; Douglas L. Jamerson, as Commissioner of Education of the State of Florida; The State Board of Education, a public Florida corporation; Pat Thomas, as President of the Florida Senate; and Bolley L. Johnson, as Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives. These individuals and entities will collectively be referred to as "defendants."

The record on appeal will be cited as "R.___." The transcript of the hearing conducted by the trial court on January 13, 1995 on defendants' motions to dismiss will be cited as "Tr.___."

¹ As is discussed in the Statement of Case and Facts, although technically an appellee, the Governor has not appeared in this case.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Plaintiffs filed their original complaint in this action in the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit on April 22, 1994. R. 1-36. On August 30, 1994, plaintiffs filed their amended and restated complaint (hereinafter "complaint") naming Lawton Chiles, as Governor of the State of Florida and Presiding Officer of the State Board of Education, Douglas L. Jamerson, as Commissioner of Education, The State Board of Education, Pat Thomas, as President of the Florida Senate, and Bolley L. Johnson, as Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives, as defendants. R. 142-78. In sum, plaintiffs' complaint alleges that the right to an adequate education is a fundamental right of the citizens of Florida under the Florida Constitution and that defendants have violated, and are continuing to violate, plaintiffs' rights by failing to make adequate provision for public education. Id.

More specifically, plaintiffs' complaint alleges that defendants have violated their constitutional rights in, among others, the following ways: providing a state funding mechanism which is inadequate to allow students to gain proficiency in the English language and which deploys resources in a manner that exacerbates the deprivations of social and economic conditions; imposing on local school districts burdensome and unnecessary administrative requirements which only indirectly relate to the provision of educational services; failing to make adequate provision for students who have special educational needs; prohibiting local school districts from raising sufficient

additional revenue to provide adequate educational opportunities; failing to make adequate provision for compensating personnel; and failing to provide adequate funding for necessary improvements to educational physical plant and other necessary capital projects.

R. 160-70.

As a result of these shortcomings, plaintiffs' complaint alleges that Florida's system of public schools has been rendered inadequate in, among others, the following respects: many students in every school district fail to achieve sufficient oral and written communication skills to enable them to function in greater society; Florida public schools have experienced an unusually and abnormally high rate of student dropouts and many students who do graduate have failed to adequately learn basic skills; an inordinately large number of students who graduate from Florida's public schools who subsequently attend institutions of higher learning are required to spend great portions of their higher education in remedial courses; foreign-born students do not learn proficiency in the English language; and qualified teachers leave the system because of inadequate resources and conditions not conducive to the educational process. R. 170-73.

The primary relief sought by plaintiffs' one count declaratory judgment complaint is a declaration that the right to an adequate education is fundamental under the Florida Constitution, that the state is constitutionally obligated to provide adequate resources to provide a uniform system of free public schools, and that defendants have failed to make such provision. R. 174.

With consent of plaintiffs, the Governor did not appear below and has not filed a response to the complaint. The Florida Legislature, through the President of the Florida Senate and the Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives, and the State Board of Education and the Commissioner of Education filed motions to dismiss the complaint. R. 189-206; 207-18. Argument was heard on these motions on January 13, 1995 before the Honorable Ralph E. Smith. On January 31, 1995, Judge Smith entered an order granting defendants' motions to dismiss with prejudice finding, inter alia, that: the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction on the basis of separation of powers, plaintiffs' complaint involves a nonjusticiable political question, education is not a fundamental right under the Florida Constitution, declaratory relief is not available because plaintiffs simply seek an advisory opinion, certain plaintiffs do not have standing and those who do have standing have no rights which were alleged to be violated, and the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction because improper defendants have been joined. R. 304-11.

Plaintiffs filed a timely notice of appeal of the January 31, 1995 order to the First District Court of Appeal. R. 407-13; 414-26. On March 8, 1995, all parties filed a joint suggestion that the Court of Appeal certify this case to be one of great public importance which required immediate resolution by this court. The Court of Appeal agreed and by order dated March 13, 1995 certified the appeal to this court. This court accepted jurisdiction by order dated March 29, 1995.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in dismissing the complaint and refusing to consider plaintiffs' claims on the merits. The trial court's ruling violates numerous aspects of Florida law. The order should be reversed and the case remanded for further proceedings.

The trial court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case. Pursuant to the clear language of Article IX, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution, education is a fundamental right in this state. This has been recognized both by decisions of this court which have recognized the critical, "basic" nature of education in our state and, at least implicitly, by the legislature which has passed laws requiring mandatory school attendance for children between the ages of six and sixteen. Plaintiffs have alleged their constitutional right to an adequate education is being violated; it is the function of the judiciary to adjudicate this claim.

For relief, plaintiffs seek only a declaration that education is a fundamental right and that defendants are failing in their obligation to provide an adequate education to the school children of this state. Plaintiffs are confident that when such a declaration is issued, the defendants will discharge their responsibilities appropriately. Thus, plaintiffs are not asking the court to usurp the legislature's authority to appropriate funds but simply for the court to exercise its judicial authority to prevent any further violation of plaintiffs' rights.

Nor are plaintiffs asking this court to make a political decision by elevating one of several competing legislative

interests for special consideration. To the contrary, plaintiffs merely ask the court to recognize and respect the decision made when the Florida Constitution was ratified that education is a fundamental right. It is the right to an adequate education which, with few others, is specifically enumerated in our Constitution. Other legislative interests, while legitimate, do not rise to the constitutional level as does education.

Although cases from other states quite obviously interpret the different education provisions found in their respective state constitutions, the overwhelming majority of these cases make clear that the type of issues cited by the trial court in dismissing the complaint - - separation of powers, political question, etc. - - are not an impediment to the judiciary's consideration of the merits of plaintiffs' claim. The courts of our sister states have recognized that the judiciary must not abdicate its role to protect the right of children to an education and have almost uniformly considered claims like those raised by plaintiffs on the merits. This court should similarly agree that plaintiffs' claims are worthy of consideration.

Finally, the proper parties are represented in this case. Plaintiffs, school children and parents, school board members, forty-five school boards, and the Coalition for Adequacy and Fairness in School Funding, Inc., all have standing. Each constituent group of plaintiffs has a vital interest in education and is affected by the continuing lack of adequate educational opportunities in this state. Defendants are those individuals and

entities who control education at the state level by having authority to enact statutes or rules and policies which impact every local school district. With the exception of the Governor, all have taken an actual, present, adverse, and antagonistic position to plaintiffs in this lawsuit. Each was properly joined as a defendant and should be required to respond on the merits in further proceedings below.

VI. ARGUMENT: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT.

A. THE APPROPRIATE DEFENDANTS HAVE BEEN JOINED IN THIS CASE.

Although many issues raised by the trial court's order merit discussion, plaintiffs will begin with the most basic issue - - who the proper defendants are in this case. Named as defendants in the amended and restated complaint are the Governor in his capacities as Governor and Presiding Officer of the State Board of Education, the Commissioner of Education, the State Board of Education, the President of the Florida Senate, and the Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives. In determining the proper parties to sue in this action, plaintiffs have attempted to heed this court's blunt warning in Florida Dep't of Educ. v. Glasser, 622 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 1993), to join "all persons who have an actual, present, adverse, and antagonistic interest in the subject matter." Id. at 948 (citations omitted).

Although several defendants took the position in the trial court that they had no authority over the subject of this litigation, it is clear that each (with the exception of the Governor who, with consent of plaintiffs, did not file a response in the trial court) has taken a present, adverse, and antagonistic position to that espoused by plaintiffs. While certain defendants such as the State Board of Education and the Commissioner of Education cannot themselves pass legislation, they can promulgate rules and policies and it is clear these defendants play a vital role in the state's education system. Certainly, they are as involved, and as responsible for, the issues involved in this case

as was the Department of Education which this court held should have been a party in <u>Glasser</u>.

In its order, the trial court recited that plaintiffs "conceded" they stated no cause of action against any defendants other than the President of the Senate and Speaker of the House.

R. 304. This is not correct. Although at hearing counsel for plaintiffs indicated some indifference to whether the Governor and Commissioner of Education remained parties, counsel clearly stated plaintiffs' continuing belief that those individuals are necessary parties based on this court's opinion in Glasser. Tr. 51.

The trial court also ruled that plaintiffs had failed to allege a jurisdictional basis for a claim against the President of the Senate, Speaker of the House, or their respective houses of the legislature. R. 309. This ruling apparently arose from the trial court's articulated concern that the legislature was not subject to suit. Tr. 73-4. This concern is not justified, however, and, consequently, the court's ruling was in error.

Cases in which the legislature, one of its constituent bodies, or individual legislative leaders have appeared as plaintiff, defendant, or amicus are legion. See, e.g., Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein, 646 So. 2d 717, 726 (Fla. 1994), petition for cert. filed, 63 U.S.L.W. 3660 (Feb. 27, 1995) (No. 1443) (Florida Legislature, amicus); Locke v. Hawkes, 595 So. 2d 32, 34 (Fla. 1992) (Florida House of Representatives, petitioner); Chiles v. Children A. B. C. D. E. and F. 589 So. 2d 260, 262 (Fla. 1991) (Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives and Chairman

of the Committee on Appropriations of the Florida House of Representatives, amici); Florida House of Representatives v. Martinez, 555 So. 2d 839 (Fla. 1990) (Florida Representatives, petitioner); Dade County Classroom Teachers Ass'n Inc. v. The Legislature, 269 So. 2d 684, 685 (Fla. 1974) (the Legislature of the State of Florida, defendant). Moreover, the Rules adopted by the Florida House of Representatives pursuant to Article III, Section 4(e) of the Florida Constitution provide that the Speaker may "initiate, defend, intervene in, or otherwise participate in any suit on behalf of the House, a Committee of the House, a Member of the House...." Rule 2.4, Florida House of Representative Rules. Thus, it appears well settled by rule and caselaw that the proper defendants have been joined in this case.

Of course, it is not plaintiffs' intent to sue any particular individual or entity unnecessarily. Plaintiffs simply desire to comply with this court's decision in <u>Glasser</u> and have all of the proper parties before the court so that full relief can be granted. If the trial court believed a proper party had not been joined, it should have permitted plaintiffs to amend to add that party. Similarly, if this court does not agree with plaintiffs that the proper parties have been joined, plaintiffs respectfully request the court to tell them who should be named as a defendant so that those parties can be joined.

B. THE TRIAL COURT HAS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO DETERMINE WHETHER DEFENDANTS ARE MEETING THEIR CONSTITUTIONAL OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE AN ADEQUATE EDUCATION TO FLORIDA'S PUBLIC SCHOOL CHILDREN.

The trial court's order dismissing the complaint with prejudice raises and commingles numerous legal concepts in support of its conclusion that the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case. Whether couched under the rubrics of separation of powers, standing, or "political" question, the court's order has one theme adopted almost verbatim from defendants' argument - -that the courts of the State of Florida lack the requisite competence to determine the issues raised by this case. Indeed, before the trial court, defendants exerted much energy in their successful effort to convince the court that it should not consider this case on the merits because it would be difficult and time-consuming or, in the court's phrase, "judicially unmanageable." R. 305.

The time commitment required of a court and the complexity of the issues presented have never been, and must never be allowed to become, factors considered by the judiciary in determining whether to even consider a case. See, e.g., Rose v. Palm Beach County, 361 So. 2d 135, 137 (Fla. 1978) (judiciary may not abdicate its responsibility and defer to legislative or administrative arrangements). Courts do not measure subject matter jurisdiction against a yardstick of complexity. If these factors were considered, the very schools we now discuss might still be racially segregated, for it was only with difficult, persistent, and courageous intervention by the judiciary that many elected officials of another generation were compelled to follow the

commands of our Constitution for equal education. Plaintiffs here merely seek a similar opportunity to vindicate their constitutional rights to adequate education. As is fully explained below, the trial court was wrong to deprive plaintiffs of that opportunity. Accordingly, the order dismissing the complaint should be reversed and the case remanded for consideration on the merits.

1. EDUCATION IS A FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT IN FLORIDA.

"The right to education is basic in a democracy. Without it, neither the student nor the state has a future."

Plaintiffs could not state their case more clearly or succinctly. Plaintiffs cannot take credit for these insightful Rather, the quote comes directly from this comments, however. court's decision in Glasser delivered a scant two years ago. Glasser, 622 So. 2d at 948. Yet despite this recent, clear articulation of the "basic," fundamental nature of education under the constitution of our state, both the defendants and the trial court continue to deny that the school-age children of Florida have a constitutional right to a minimally adequate education. Although it is remarkable to plaintiffs that their elected representatives, particularly the Commissioner of Education and the State Board of Education, would even question that an adequate education is a necessary and required foundation for the performance of the essential obligations of citizenship, this is precisely the position defendants have adopted. Having thus been rejected by defendants, the school children of this state must once again turn

to the judiciary to vindicate and protect their constitutional rights.

Article IX, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution provides:

Adequate provision shall be made by law for a uniform system of free public schools...

The trial court, employing "generally accepted principles of grammar," found that the phrase "adequate provision" modifies "uniform system." R. 305-06. From this assumption, the trial court, adopting the argument of defendants, concluded that Article IX, Section 1 merely requires the legislature to ensure that among the education is uniform counties and that constitutional mandate has nothing whatsoever to do with the appropriation of funds. R. 306. This construction is contrary to the plain language of Article IX, Section 1, caselaw from this court and others regarding the fundamental nature of education, and simple common sense. Article IX, Section 1, without adjectives and adverbs, reads simply: provision shall be made for schools. obvious has been overlooked.

Pursuant to the trial court's interpretation of Article IX, Section 1, the legislature need only guarantee that educational opportunities among the various counties is "uniform." Because no particular level of funding is required, presumably under the trial court's construction of Article IX, Section 1, any level of funding would be constitutional as long as it is "uniformly" applied throughout the state. One dollar per student per year would certainly be "uniform" but there would be no "schools" for students

to attend. Of course, the guarantee of uniform inadequacy is no guarantee at all. Thankfully, and not surprisingly, Florida's constitution requires considerably more.

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