DA 8-28-95

047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TILE
SID J. WHITE
JUN 19 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY Chief Deputy Clerk

COALITION FOR ADEQUACY AND FAIRNESS IN SCHOOL FUNDING, INC., et al.,

Appellants

vs.

CASE NO. 85,375

LAWTON CHILES, Governor of the State of Florida and Presiding Officer of the State Board of Education; DOUGLAS JAMERSON, Commissioner of Education of the State of Florida; STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION, a public Florida corporation; PAT THOMAS, as President of the Florida Senate; and BOLLEY L. JOHNSON, as Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AND THE STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION

sesulestatutur y

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Court below was the Second Judicial Circuit Court in and for Leon County, Florida. It will be referred to in the Answer Brief as "the trial court".

When the original complaint was filed in the trial court, Douglas Jamerson was the Commissioner of Education. Frank T. Brogan is now the Commissioner of Education.

References to the Record on Appeal will be prefixed with the letter R, followed by the appropriate page numbers, e.g. R-1-36. References to the transcript of the January 13, 1995, Hearing will be prefixed with the letters TR, followed by the appropriate page numbers, e.g. TR-1-95.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Commissioner of Education and the State Board of Education accept and adopt the Statement of the Case set forth in the Appellee's, President of the Florida Senate and Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives, Answer Brief filed in this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly dismissed the Amended and Restated Complaint. (R-304-311). Further, the Order dismissing the Amended and Restated Complaint stated:

At such hearing the Plaintiffs conceded that no cause of action was stated against any Defendant other than PAT THOMAS, as President of the Senate, and BOLLEY L. JOHNSON, as Speaker of the House of Representatives, and stipulated to a dismissal of such claims.

(R-304).

This is an appropriations case. The interests of the other Defendants herein are substantially different from the interests of the original Defendant in the Florida Department of Education v. Glasser, 622 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 1993), (hereinafter "Glasser"). The Glasser trial court ruling involved the declaration of unconstitutionality of laws in a case where local officials sued local officials. The danger of the validity of state programs being dependent upon local officials suing non-interested local officials does not exist here, as it did in Glasser. This case does not involve a constitutional challenge to any particular statute; there is no actual present, adverse and antagonistic interest between the Plaintiffs and these Defendants; and this case seeks relief that cannot be granted as to the Commissioner

of Education and State Board of Education -- they cannot appropriate funds. Plaintiffs' Amended and Restated Complaint is devoid of any allegations that these officials either failed to perform their constitutional mandatory duties as Commissioner and the State of Board of Education or failed to exercise due care in the performance of their duties in those roles.

ARGUMENT

This case is an appropriations case. This case is not about whether the state should properly educate our children. The Commissioner of Education and the members of the State Board of Education do not dispute the importance of education to our society, and continually try to improve the education of Florida's schoolchildren.

The Plaintiffs correctly conceded at the hearing in this case that they had not stated a cause of action against the Executive Branch Defendants.

In their Amended and Restated Complaint, the Plaintiffs asked the trial court to declare that the Defendants "have failed to make adequate provision for a uniform system of free public schools in Florida, and thereby have failed to discharge their constitutional responsibilities." Amended and Restated Complaint, Prayer for Relief, paragraph 2. (R-174). They also asked the trial court to review all "newly enacted laws, including future General Appropriations Acts and Implementing Provisions relating to funds for free public schools and to schedule such further hearings as may be required to monitor and evaluate such legislation and appropriations." Amended and Restated Complaint, Prayer for Relief, paragraph 2. (R-174).

This action is brought against the backdrop of a long line of unsuccessful challenges to Florida's school funding. See, Florida Department of Education v. Glasser, 622 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 1993); St. Johns County v. Northeast Fla. Builders Ass'n, Inc., 583 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 1991); Gindl v. Department of Education, 396 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 1979); School Board of Escambia County v. State, 353 So. 2d 834 (Fla. 1977); Penn v. Pensacola-Escambia Governmental Center Authority, 311 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1973).

This case <u>is</u> about who makes the tough political decisions on limited tax dollars among competing interests. These tough political decisions must be answered by the legislative branch of government. The legislative process necessarily involves the special expertise of the Legislature's staff, its advisors on public finances, the Department of Education, together with input from the public and the education community as a whole. The legislative process is equipped to mediate among the many competing public needs in this state and to determine the appropriate and achievable level of funding for each need, including education.

The Plaintiffs attempt to cloak what they allege in their Amended and Restated Complaint. Considering the Amended and Restated Complaint as written, rather than as depicted in the brief, the heart of this case is the allegation that the "total of such appropriated funds [Ch. 94-357, General Appropriations Act] is constitutionally inadequate." Paragraph 75(H), Amended and Restated Complaint. (R-172-173).

The Legislature has made adequate provision by law for a uniform system of free public schools, with the passage of the following statutory chapters: Title XVI, Education, including: Ch. 228, Fla. Stat., (Public Education: General Provisions); Ch. 229, Fla. Stat., (Functions of State Educational Agencies); Ch. 230, Fla. Stat., (District School System); Ch. 232, Fla. Stat., (Compulsory School Attendance; Child Welfare); Ch. 233, Fla. Stat., (Courses of Study and Instructional Aids); Ch. 234, Fla. Stat., (Transportation of School Children); Ch. 235, Fla. Stat.,

(Educational Facilities); Ch. 236, Fla. Stat., (Finance and Taxation, Schools); Ch. 237, Fla. Stat., (Financial Accounts and Expenditures); Ch. 238, Fla. Stat., (Retirement System for School Teacher); and, Ch. 239, Fla. Stat., (Vocational, Adult and Community Education).

As Justice Kogan stated in his concurring opinion in Glasser:

The first clause of article IX, section 1 of the Florida Constitution requires a uniform school system to be provided by This 'uniformity clause' manifestly gives authority to the Legislature to take steps to ensure uniformity; and I believe the courts should show deference to that determination so long as it reasonably may promote the objectives underlying article IX, section 1. Here, the statute in question undoubtedly is a part of the legislative effort to ensure uniformity, and I cannot say it is unquestionably Whether the statute is an unreasonable. harsh enforcement overly Legislature's authority is another matter but one that I believe altogether, constitutes a political question beyond the power of any court to decide.

Glasser, 622 So. 2d at 949-950, (e.s., footnote omitted).

These Defendants respectfully suggest that this Court should show the same deference in this case to the political question involved.

POINTS I- VI

The Commissioner of Education and the State Board of
Education adopt and incorporate by reference the following points
set forth in the Answer Brief filed by the President of the
Florida Senate and Speaker of the Florida House of
Representatives in this case:

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT TO GRANT PLAINTIFFS RELIEF WOULD UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE.

POINT II

PLAINTIFFS IMPROPERLY SEEK AN ADVISORY OPINION.

POINT III

ARTICLE IX, SECTION I, ONLY MANDATES A "UNIFORM SYSTEM OF FREE PUBLIC SCHOOLS," NOT AN ENTITLEMENT TO A PARTICULAR LEVEL OF FUNDING.

POINT IV

DECISIONS FROM OTHER STATES ARE INAPPOSITE.

POINT V

THE INDIVIDUAL SCHOOL BOARD MEMBERS DO NOT HAVE TAXPAYER STANDING.

POINT VI

THE SCHOOL BOARDS LACK STANDING TO BRING THIS SUIT IN THEIR OFFICIAL CAPACITIES.

POINT VII

THE PROPER PARTY STATUS OF THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH DEFENDANTS

Plaintiff's Initial Brief asserts that the appropriate

Defendants have been joined in this case. They acknowledge that
the State Board of Education and Commissioner of Education cannot
themselves pass legislation, but assert they can promulgate rules

and policies and play a vital role in the state's education system. (Initial Brief at 7.) These Defendants concur that they play a vital role in the state's education system. However, the fact that these Defendants cannot pass legislation and more importantly, cannot appropriate funds, is key to this case.

The Commissioner of Education and State Board of Education are mindful of the Court's admonition to the <u>Glasser</u> Plaintiffs for their failure to name the Department of Education or any other state agency in that case. 622 So. 2d at 948. However, <u>Glasser</u> involved a constitutional challenge to § 236.25(1), Fla. Stat., and Ch. 91-193, §1, item 509, Laws of Fla. 622 So. 2d at 946. The complaint in this case is substantially different from the complaint in Glasser.

Plaintiffs herein do not directly plead that the 1994

General Appropriations Act (Ch. 94-357, Laws of Fla.) is
unconstitutional. Nor do they plead that the public education
provisions in Title XVI (Chs. 228-239, Fla. Stat.) are
unconstitutional in toto. Nor did they plead that any specific
statutory provision is unconstitutional. Instead, as the lower
tribunal noted, "they assert the judicially unmanageable claim
that the entire system is holistically defective and
underfunded." Order Dismissing Amended and Restated Complaint
with Prejudice (Order) p. 2. (R-305). Against this backdrop,
Plaintiffs make no representations as to what statutory
provisions they are contesting. Unlike Glasser, in which a
specific part of the overall funding formula was at issue, 2 there

² <u>See</u>, §§ 236.081, 236.25, Fla. Stat. (1991).

are \underline{no} specific challenges in this case, "it all has to do with funding." (TR-71, statement by the trial court).

The following discussion took place between the trial court and the attorneys arguing for the Plaintiffs. This discussion sets forth the trial court's and the Plaintiffs' concerns:

THE COURT: Well, let me stop you. Have you alleged in this complaint that the Commissioner of Education, by enacting that rule that it violated its statutory obligation or its constitutional obligation, you're asking this court to declare that administrative rule invalid?

MR. TISON: If Your Honor --

THE COURT: Be set aside?

MR. TISON: I don't believe there is a specific allegation that the Commissioner has in a particular act as Commissioner specifically violated any duty. What we have alleged is that the system of free public education, for which the Commissioner has constitutional responsibility and for which the Board has a constitutional responsibility and for which the Governor and the Legislature have constitutional responsibility, is broke, is not It is our understanding that we are required to join as defendants all of those officers, and I mentioned Glasser earlier, as indicating this. We believe that we are required to join as defendants all of those constitutional officers who are charged with the responsibility of maintaining and creating the system of education.

THE COURT: Well, that's the only reason --

MR. TISON: That's the only reason they are there, is because it is part of their official duties under the Constitution to maintain the system. We understand them to be necessary parties under Glasser. Now, if the Court doesn't affect the overall course of this case in any respect, because there are other defendants.

THE COURT: Well, if you don't allege anything that they have done that's in violation of the law and if you want the Court to correct it, I

don't see how they should be in the lawsuit.

MR. TISON: Well, it may be that some of them ought to be plaintiffs, but that's another question altogether; but at this point, as I say, the Governor hasn't asked for anything, so that's premature.

THE COURT: Well, I doubt if anybody in the whole lawsuit doesn't want to provide a good education for people of the State of Florida.

MR. TISON: Well, certainly --

THE COURT: I don't see any allegation of an antagonistic interest anywhere in this lawsuit. (e.s.)

(TR-46-48).

THE COURT: Well, I am looking at the sentence and the clause that precedes that in paragraph E on page 23. It says, "The defendants have imposed on the local school districts burdensome administrative and service requirements that are often only indirectly related to the provision of educational services without providing adequate funding to meet such requirements, but would result in local schools and forced it to divert funds."

It all has to do with funding, as I see it.

MR. SESSUMS: It does. You can either remove unnecessary requirements and remove the need for funding, or if they are necessary requirements, there is an obligation, we believe, to make sure that proper funding is provided.

THE COURT: Well, I think if you are going to state a cause of action against them, you need to tell us what administrative rules you think are unlawful and ask the Court to declare them to be invalid and unlawful. I think those defendants ought to be dismissed from this action.

MR. SESSUMS: The Governor and the State Board of Education?

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MR. SESSUMS: We have no great problem with that. You raised a second question about the Legislature being a part of it. (e.s.)

(TR-71-72). Based upon this discussion, the trial court correctly stated:

At such hearing the Plaintiffs conceded that no cause of action was stated against any Defendant other than PAT THOMAS, as President of the Senate, and BOLLEY L. JOHNSON, as Speaker of the House of Representatives, and stipulated to a dismissal of such claims.

Order at p. 1. (R-304).

The interests of the other Defendants herein are substantially different from the interests of the original Defendant in the Glasser case. In Glasser, the school board initially sued only the Tax Collector, a non-interested local official, "without naming the Department of Education or any other state agency." 622 So. 2d at 948. Thus, the Glasser trial court ruling involved the declaration of unconstitutionality of laws in a case where local officials sued local officials. The Glasser Court was concerned that "trial by surprise" in cases of statewide importance is bad public policy. Glasser at 948. In contrast, the danger of the validity of state programs being dependent upon local officials suing non-interested local officials does not exist here, as it did in Glasser, because other state defendants were named herein.

This was also the case in Retail Liquor Dealers Ass'n. v. Dade County, 100 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958), cited in Glasser, 622 So. 2d at 948.

⁴ This comment by the Court followed a discussion of the method and timing of the notice of hearing to the State Defendants. Notice is not an issue in this case.

The <u>Glasser</u> Court noted that all persons who have an actual present adverse and antagonistic interest should be before the court. <u>Glasser</u> at 948. However, in the discussion concerning the Executive Branch Defendants with Plaintiffs counsel, the trial court below stated that it failed to see any allegation of an antagonistic interest anywhere in this lawsuit. (TR-48).

Thus, the differences between <u>Glasser</u> and this case are three: This case does not involve a constitutional challenge to any particular statute; there is no actual present, adverse and antagonistic interest between the Plaintiffs and these Defendants; and in this case, Plaintiffs seek relief that cannot be granted as to the Commissioner of Education and State Board of Education -- they cannot appropriate funds.

The Prayer for Relief seeks in part that the trial court declare that the Defendants, individually and collectively, have failed to make adequate provision for a uniform system of free public schools and thereby have failed to discharge their constitutional responsibilities. Paragraph 75(H), Amended and Restated Complaint. (R-172-173).

Plaintiffs have not alleged that the Commissioner of Education failed to submit to the State Board of Education, expenditures for the State Board of Education, the Commissioner of Education, and all of the boards, institutions, agencies and services under the general supervision of the State Board of Education (§ 229.512(10), Fla. Stat.); nor have the Plaintiffs alleged that the State Board of Education failed to adopt and transmit to the Governor estimates of such expenditures

(§ 229.053(2)(e), Fla. Stat.); nor have Plaintiffs alleged that the Governor failed to submit a recommended budget to Legislature (Ch. 216, Fla. Stat.).

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